#### CARE SERVICES POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held at 7.00 pm on 28 June 2016

#### Present:

Councillor Judi Ellis (Chairman)
Councillor Pauline Tunnicliffe (Vice-Chairman)
Councillors Ruth Bennett, Kevin Brooks, Mary Cooke,
Hannah Gray, Catherine Rideout and
Charles Rideout QPM CVO

Linda Gabriel, Justine Godbeer, Rosalind Luff and Lynn Sellwood

#### Also Present:

Councillor Robert Evans, Portfolio Holder for Care Services Councillor Diane Smith, Executive Support Assistant to the Portfolio Holder for Care Services

# 5 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND NOTIFICATION OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor David Jefferys and Councillor Terry Nathan.

### 6 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

There were no declarations of interest.

# 7 QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS AND MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ATTENDING THE MEETING

Nine written questions were received from members of the public and these are attached at Appendix A.

# 8 MINUTES OF THE CARE SERVICES PDS COMMITTEE MEETINGS HELD ON 10TH MARCH 2016 AND 11TH MAY 2016

The minutes were agreed subject to the following amendments to the minutes of the meeting held on 10<sup>th</sup> March 2016:

Item 7d: Gateway Review of Sexual Health Services: Resolution:

"RESOLVED that the Council's Executive be recommended to extend the contract for the following services for a period of six months from 1<sup>st</sup> April 2017 to 30<sup>th</sup> September 2017."

Item 7e: Gateway Review of Health Visiting and National Child Measurement Programme: Resolution:

"1) Extend the contract with Bromley Healthcare for Health Visiting and National Child Measurement Programme for a period of six months from 1<sup>st</sup> April 2017 to 30<sup>th</sup> September 2017."

Item 7i: Welfare Benefits Contract Extension: Resolution:

"2) Agree that an integrated benefits advice service be tendered for a period of one year from 1<sup>st</sup> July 2016 to 30<sup>th</sup> June *2017...*"

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meetings held on 10<sup>th</sup> March 2016 and 11<sup>th</sup> May 2016 be agreed, subject to the amendments outlined above.

### 9 MATTERS ARISING AND WORK PROGRAMME

## Report CSD16072

The Committee considered its work programme for 2016/17, matters arising from previous meetings and Care Services PDS Committee Co-opted Membership appointments for 2016/17.

In considering the work programme for 2016/17, the Chairman requested that updates on extra care housing and temporary accommodation, including the Manorfields and Belle Grove provision and out-of-Borough placements be provided to the next meeting of Care Services PDS Committee.

With regard to the Our Healthier South East London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee, Councillor Hannah Gray notified Members that she would be standing down as a Local Authority representative to this committee.

## **RESOLVED** that:

- 1) The Care Services work programme for 2016/17 and matters arising from previous meetings be noted.
- 2) The following non-voting Co-opted Members and their alternates be appointed to the Care Services PDS Committee for the 2016/17 municipal year:

Co-Opted Member	Organisation	Alternate Member
Justine Godbeer	Experts by Experience (X by X)	-
Rosalind Luff	Carers Forum	-
Linda Gabriel	Healthwatch Bromley	Leslie Marks
Lynn Sellwood	Voluntary Sector Strategic Network	-

# 10 HOLDING THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER AND EXECUTIVE TO ACCOUNT

## A) PORTFOLIO HOLDER UPDATE

With the agreement of the Chairman, the Portfolio Holder for Care Services made a statement to the Committee with regard to the recent Ofsted Inspection of Children's Social Care which is attached at Appendix B.

In response to a query by a Member, the Portfolio Holder for Care Services confirmed that it was expected that additional resources would be identified to deliver the required improvements, but that this was likely to be as a standalone improvement budget rather than within the Care Services Portfolio budget.

# 11 PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF CARE SERVICES PORTFOLIO REPORTS

### A) PROVISIONAL BUDGET OUTTURN REPORT 2015/16

# Report CS17002

The Care Services Portfolio Holder introduced a report outlining the provisional budget outturn position for the Care Services Portfolio for the 2015/16 financial year. This showed an underspend of £4,350k on controllable expenditure, which was an increase from the last reported figure of an underspend of £3,646k based on activity at the end of December 2015. A number of carry forward requests had been agreed by the Council's Executive at its meeting on 15<sup>th</sup> June 2016, which related to either unspent grant income or delays in expenditure where cost pressures would follow through into 2016/17.

The Portfolio Holder for Care Services reflected on the difficulties experienced following a significant in-year grant reduction of between £900k-£1m for Bromley's Public Health budget for 2015/16, and commended Dr Nada Lemic and her team in managing to balance the Public Health budget during a challenging time.

In considering the report, a Member queried if savings made within the Care Services Portfolio had contributed to the outcome of the recent Ofsted Inspection of Children's Social Care and underlined the need to ensure services were funded at an appropriate level. A Co-opted Member suggested that an impact assessment be routinely undertaken where any savings were proposed. The Portfolio Holder for Care Services emphasised the pressures on the Local Authority to deliver considerable budget savings across all Portfolios, and that the implications of any proposed savings within the Care Services Portfolio were fully scrutinised by Members. The amount of spend across the Care Services Portfolio was often linked to the number of service users and their level of need, and as a result could vary extensively throughout the year.

A Member noted the underspend in staffing in the Assessment and Care Management Division which reflected the continuing difficulties in recruiting qualified social workers across services for both adults and children, and the Chairman highlighted the potential to review the Recruitment and Retention package if it was not sufficient. Another Member underlined the additional cost if the staffing levels were not right within a team, including increased sickness, and suggested that a comparative exercise be undertaken to assess this.

The Vice-Chairman was concerned at the variation between the amount paid in rent by clients leaving care and the amount reclaimable as Housing Benefit. The Head of Education, Care and Health Services Finance confirmed that the costs of leaving care continued to rise and that Housing Benefit levels could only be estimated. There was also a cost associated with the increasing care needs of these clients.

#### RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder be recommended to:

- 1) Note the underspend of £4,350k on controllable expenditure at the end of 2015/16 and any issues arising from it;
- 2) Note a number of carry forward requests agreed at the meeting of the Council's Executive on 15<sup>th</sup> June 2016; and,
- 3) Approve the provisional budget outturn for the Care Services Portfolio for 2015/16.
  - B) CARE SERVICES PORTFOLIO BUDGET MONITORING 2016/2017

### Report CS17003

The Care Services Portfolio Holder introduced a report setting out the budget monitoring position for the Care Services Portfolio based on expenditure to the end of May 2016.

The controllable budget was forecast to be in an overspend position of £3,333k following overspends across a number of services including Adult Social Care, Temporary Accommodation (Bed and Breakfast), Children's Social Care and Commissioning which was due to a number of reasons including higher than expected demand for services and the need for further efficiency savings to be identified.

Members were advised that on 15<sup>th</sup> June 2016, the Council's Executive approved a number of carry forward requests for funding to be transferred into contingency for 2016/17. These carry forward requests which totalled £861k related to either unspent grant income or delays in expenditure where cost pressures would follow through into 2016/17.

In considering the report, the Chairman was concerned at the increasing demand for Temporary Accommodation (Bed and Breakfast) and how this impacted on individuals. A Member also noted the result of the recent EU Referendum and highlighted the need for contingency plans to be put in place. The Head of Education, Care and Health Services Finance confirmed that implications of the EU Referendum result would be factored into the Care Services Portfolio budget as they were identified.

The Portfolio Holder for Care Services advised Members that a full range of Care Services provision continued to be delivered but that gateways had been strengthened to ensure that the available support was provided to those most in need. Significant savings had been realised through commissioning services in previous years, however the majority of the most substantial savings had now been realised and further savings from this area would be more limited.

#### **RESOLVED** that the Portfolio Holder be recommended to:

- 1) Note the latest projected overspend of £3,333k forecast on the controllable budget, based on information as at May 2016;
- 2) Note the full year effect of cost pressures of £4,241k for the Care Services Portfolio budget for 2016/17;
- 3) Agree the release of carry forward amounts held in contingency relating to Adult Social Care Invest to Save schemes, Integration Funding Better Care Fund, Better Care Fund and Adoption Reform Grant; and.
- 4) Approve the Care Services Portfolio Budget Monitoring Report 2016/17.
  - C) FOSTERING ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16

### Report CS17009

The Care Services Portfolio Holder introduced a report presenting the Foster Service Annual Report 2015/16 which was required to be produced by the fostering agency on an annual basis under the Fostering National Minimum Standards 2011.

The Fostering Service primarily worked to identify and support stable placements for children and young people looked after for whom foster care was the identified plan. As at 31<sup>st</sup> March 2016, there were 281 Bromley children looked after, 174 of whom were placed with foster carers approved and supported by Bromley and 31 with independent fostering agencies. The remaining children looked after were placed in residential units, residential schools, supported lodgings or in semi-independent accommodation. The total number of fostering households approved by Bromley as at 31<sup>st</sup> March 2016 was 123, which was a decrease of 11 households from the previous

year. A review of foster carer allowances had been undertaken in 2015/16 to identify possible savings, following which the recommended Department for Education weekly maintenance allowance had been adopted.

Priorities for the 2016/17 financial year included continuing to work to recruit and retain high quality foster carers to ensure that sufficient local placements were available to meet the needs of Bromley children looked after. This would include work with internal and external stakeholders to improve practice and opportunities for foster carers to be actively involved in foster carer recruitment.

In response to a question from a Member, the Head of Social Care: Care and Resources confirmed that Bromley worked to recruit foster carers across a distance of up to 20 miles away from the Borough. There continued to be difficulty in securing independent foster carer placements due to the high number of unaccompanied child asylum seekers in Kent and the South East, and there had recently been recruitment drives for areas of particular shortage, including foster carers for adolescents.

Members were concerned at the disparity between the number of foster carers recruited against the number of initial enquiries, and further information on the assessment process would be provided to Members following the meeting. A Co-opted Member suggested that former foster carers be approached to return to the role, and the Committee recommended that this should be included as an element of future recruitment drives. The Head of Social Care: Care and Resources explained that records of former foster carers could only be held for three years, but that the potential to recruit former foster carers would be further explored. Another Member suggested that the Local Authority advertise in Jobcentres for prospective foster carers.

The Vice-Chairman underlined the importance of providing the right level of support to foster carers in engaging young people in their care who were not in education, employment or training (NEET). The Head of Social Care: Care and Resources reported that the Executive Working Party on Child Safeguarding and Corporate Parenting had established a Task and Finish Group to look at the support provided to foster carers of children with complex needs or challenging behaviour and that an update would be provided to the meeting of Care Services PDS Committee on 15<sup>th</sup> November 2016.

RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder be recommended to endorse the Fostering Service Annual Report 2015/16.

#### D) ADOPTION ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16

#### Report CS17010

The Care Services Portfolio Holder introduced a report presenting the Adoption Service Annual Report 2016/17 which was required to be produced by the adoption agency on an annual basis under the National Minimum Standards 2014.

The Adoption Service was responsible for all adoption work undertaken by the Local Authority, supporting domestic, inter-country and step-parent adoption, birth parent counselling, post-placement and post-adoption support and a range of intermediary services. Of a total of 33 children with an adoption plan and awaiting an adoption placement during 2015/16, 16 children were matched with an adoptive family, 2 children had their adoption plan rescinded and 14 children were actively being found an adoption placement as at 31<sup>st</sup> March 2016. A total of 17 adoptive units were approved during 2015/16, with 13 adoptive units left in the pool of approved adopters as at 31<sup>st</sup> March 2016.

Priorities for the 2016/17 financial year included working with South London Consortium local authorities regarding the ongoing development of regionalisation, to implement 'foster to adopt' and to develop an adoption website. Work would be undertaken to develop processes and procedures to meet post-adoption support needs and make applications to the Adoption Support Fund, which would continue to be available to all children adopted and their families across England who were in need of therapeutic services for at least the next four years. It was proposed that a report be presented to the Executive Working Party on Child Safeguarding and Corporate Parenting every six months in addition to the annual report to the Care Services PDS Committee to meet Standard 25.6 of the National Minimum Standards 2011 which required the Adoption Agency to produce a six monthly report on adoption activity to the Agency Executive.

In response to a query from a Member around the length of time children waited between entering care and moving in with their adoptive families, the Interim Director of Children's Services confirmed that the issue of pace of the adoption process had been highlighted in the recent Ofsted Inspection of Children's Social Care. A range of measures would be introduced to improve pace, but the levels of adoption had also been impacted by a significant increase in Special Guardianship Orders and Connected Persons. The Local Authority would continue to work as part of the South London Consortium which increased the choice of adoptive families available for children and also supported joined-up working and a shared recruitment process.

The Chairman requested that work to undertake parallel assessment between the Foster Care and Adoption teams for children entering the care system be reported to the meeting of Care Services PDS Committee on 15<sup>th</sup> November 2016. It was also requested that information around the assessment process for Special Guardianship Orders and Connected Persons be provided to Members following the meeting.

RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder be recommended to endorse the Adoption Service Annual Report 2015/16.

# E) CONTRACT EXTENSION FOR CALL MONITORING FUNCTION OF CARELINK

## Report CS17017

The Care Services Portfolio Holder introduced a report requesting approval to extend the call monitoring contract for CareLink (community alarm and

telecare service) for a period of 6 months from 1<sup>st</sup> October 2016 to 31<sup>st</sup> March 2017 to facilitate the market testing of the service.

As a community alarm and telecare service, CareLink supported approximately 1700 Bromley service users to live more independently and with the ability to call for assistance if required. The current service was managed through separate contracts for supply and installation of equipment and call monitoring/handling of the alarms, as well as an in-house mobile response service. The Local Authority was market testing for an end-to-end managed service for one provider (or lead provider if a consortium) to deliver an holistic service covering all elements of service provision with the new contract expected to be in place for early 2017.

To facilitate the market testing process of the service it was requested to extend the existing call handling contract with Centra Pulse for a further period of six months from 1<sup>st</sup> October 2016 to 31<sup>st</sup> March 2017, with a one month break clause. The existing contract with Centra Pulse was priced at a monthly rate of £1.73 per client.

RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder be recommended to agree the extension of the call monitoring contract for CareLink (community alarm and telecare services) for a period of six months from 1<sup>st</sup> October 2016 to 31<sup>st</sup> March 2017.

F) AUTHORISATION FOR EXEMPTION TO CONTINUE THE CONTRACT FOR SUPPORT SERVICES TO CHILDREN AT RISK OF SEXUAL EXPLOITATION

# Report CS17020

The Care Services Portfolio Holder introduced a report seeking permission for an exemption from competitive tendering to extend the existing contact for support services to children at risk of sexual exploitation which was due to expire on 30<sup>th</sup> June 2016 for a further nine month period.

A contract was currently held with a provider to deliver a specialist programme of support to divert young people identified as being at risk of sexual exploitation by undertaking engagement and reducing risk taking behaviour. The existing contract, which had been held by the same provider since 2012/13, allowed for up to twelve young people to be supported at any one time through one-to-one counselling, drop-in sessions and group work. The provider also delivered training sessions to Bromley social workers as well as attending social work panel meetings. The existing contract was due to expire on 30<sup>th</sup> June 2016 and the retendering process had commenced in early 2016 following which an evaluation process of the submitted tenders was undertaken. During this period, there had been an Ofsted Inspection of Children's Social Care services and initial feedback suggested that the current service specification might be insufficient to meet a wider range of identified service user needs. To allow a review of the service specification to be undertaken it was proposed to continue with the existing provision and

provider for a further period of nine months with an increase in capacity to accommodate a waiting list of six children and the continuation of planned training sessions for practitioners, via an exemption to competitive tendering, until a new contract could be put in place.

In response to a question from a Member, the Interim Director of Children's Services confirmed that the service specification would be reviewed to ensure that appropriate support was in place for three particularly vulnerable cohorts identified in the Ofsted Inspection report, which comprised children at risk of sexual exploitation, missing children and children involved in gangs. Work had already begun to identify the services required by these children, as well as the potential for more joined-up and partner working. Whilst the specification for the service was under review, it was proposed to continue with the existing provision as the provider was meeting the requirements of the current contract and the Local Authority recognised the value that this service had for the children receiving support.

The Interim Director of Children's Services reported that Bromley was working with other local authorities to identify examples of best practice in this area. A progress report on developing the revised service specification would be reported to a future meeting of Care Services PDS Committee, and further information regarding the number of children and young people supported through the scheme on an annual basis would be provided to Members following the meeting.

RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder be recommended to approve a further award of contract to the existing provider via an exemption to competitive tendering for a nine month period from 1<sup>st</sup> July 2016 to 31<sup>st</sup> March 2017, during which the contract will be retendered based on a revised specification.

### G) WELFARE BENEFITS ADVICE SERVICES

#### Report CS16027

The Portfolio Holder presented a report outlining three welfare benefits advice contracts from the voluntary sector commissioned by the Local Authority for which a three month contract extension to 30<sup>th</sup> June 2016 had been agreed to allow providers time to prepare for forthcoming changes and for commissioners to retender the service as a single contract. Significant Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations 2006 (TUPE) issues had since arisen which had impacted on the funding required to be able to contract for a reduced service for a further year, and it was requested that the existing contracts with Age UK Bromley & Greenwich, Bromley Mencap and Broadway be extended for a further nine month period to 31<sup>st</sup> March 2017, following which a reduced welfare benefits advice service would be included in the wider retendering of voluntary sector support services. This proposal would allow for the future merging of any services required under one contract, allowing savings to be achieved in 2017/18 as

part of the wider corporate savings and setting of an overall Council budget, and reduce the level of contract monitoring required.

In response to a question from a Co-opted Member, the Portfolio Holder for Care Services confirmed that it was proposed that these specialist advice services be included in the wider retendering of voluntary sector support services to deliver them in a more effective way, and that specialist welfare benefits advice support would still be available to Bromley residents.

#### RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder be recommended to:

- 1) Agree to the proposed extension of the three existing welfare benefits advice contracts for a period of nine months from 1<sup>st</sup> July 2016 to 31<sup>st</sup> March 2017 under Contract Procurement Rule 3.7; and,
- 2) Agree that future specialist welfare advice can be included in the retendering of voluntary sector support services.
  - H) UPDATE ON REPLACEMENT OF HOUSING INFORMATION SYSTEMS

## Report CS17007

The Care Services Portfolio Holder introduced a report providing an update on progress towards replacing the information systems used by the Housing Division.

The Housing Division used two information systems to support its business. These comprised Home Connections which offered Choice based lettings functionality, and the Northgate Housing System which provided a range of services including an online housing application form, a case management service for housing advice, homeless cases and rent accounts, and a document management system, as well as supporting statutory reporting functions.

Following consideration of a Gateway Review of Housing Information Systems in January 2015, Members had agreed to fund the procurement of a new information system which would meet the current and future statutory requirements of the Housing Division. An initial tendering exercise had been undertaken which had not been successful in attracting bids. Following this, a range of alternative procurement options had been explored. Having considered supplier feedback, the fact that this was a one-off capital project and reviewed the evaluation options available, it was proposed that the option for a mini-competition using the CCS RM1059 Framework be progressed, with additional scoring criteria and weightings aligned to the cost weighting. To maximise the chances of success of the tendering process, the Project Team had shortened and simplified the requirements document, and had built up relationships with suppliers. It was also planned to send out the tender during Summer 2016 when suppliers were less likely to be busy, give an eight

week period for the production and submission of bids and make it clear to suppliers that joint bids could be made.

The Assistant Director: Housing Needs advised Members that Bromley had explored potential joint working but that this had not fitted with the recommissioning timescales or service needs of other local authorities. It was planned to take a phased approach to moving to the new system which would include a short period of parallel running with the existing systems, and break clauses were in place to end the maintenance contracts for the existing systems when the new system had been introduced.

RESOLVED that the Council's Executive be recommended to agree the Project Team re-tender on the Crown Commercial Services (CCS) RM1059 Framework.

# I) GATEWAY REPORT FOR LEARNING DISABILITY SUPPORT LIVING SCHEMES

## Report CS17016

The Care Services Portfolio Holder introduced a report outlining a gateway review undertaken on four learning disability (LD) supported living schemes with contracts due to terminate in Spring/Summer 2017 which had a combined expenditure of £1.126m. The schemes collectively accommodated 20 people with various learning and physical disabilities, including some with mental health issues. The co-termination of schemes provided an opportunity for these schemes to be grouped together, which was expected to realise a range of benefits including lower bids resulting from economies of scale, more efficient use of resources, tenders that were more attractive for providers, and for specialist expertise to be shared across schemes.

The four schemes, comprising 109 Masons Hill, 111 Masons Hill, 18/19 Century Way and Dunstonian Court, had been commissioned during the past six years to provide care and support services for adults with learning and physical disabilities within supported living services, which aimed to maximise the independence of clients and support them to participate in activities within the community. The schemes had a high occupancy rate, with three of the schemes experiencing no voids since being first commissioned and the fourth filling the small number of voids reasonably quickly, and the projection of supply and demand indicated that these schemes would be required for the foreseeable future. It was proposed that the four schemes be progressed as a single tender for a period of three years with an option to extend for a maximum of two years to commence on 1<sup>st</sup> July 2017.

In considering the report, Members discussed the 60% price, 40% quality criteria for the tender specification which was standard across all Local Authority contracts, and suggested that Members might want to review this going forward. The Business and Planning Manager (ECHS) confirmed that robust quality assurance measures were in place to ensure that the standard of provision was maintained. A recent analysis of a limited number of

contracts under a 40% price, 60% quality criteria had shown that there would have been a different outcome from the tender process in some cases.

#### RESOLVED that the Council's Executive be recommended to:

- 1) Agree to group the four schemes for tendering in order to drive the best possible quality/pricing;
- 2) Agree an exemption to enable the extension of the 109 Masons Hill scheme for 10 weeks from 23<sup>rd</sup> April 2017 to 30<sup>th</sup> June 2017 with a value of approximately £60,684, and co-termination with the 111 Masons Hill scheme; and,
- 3) Approve the commencement of the procurement procedure to enable award in accordance with the Council's financial and contractual requirements.
  - J) DEPRIVATION OF LIBERTIES SAFEGUARDS PROPOSAL FOR FUTURE SERVICE DELIVERY

## Report CS17006

The Care Services Portfolio Holder provided an update on service activity following a Supreme Court judgement made in 2014 relating to Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards and to the deprivation of liberty of individuals. The report also outlined the existing procurement arrangements under a service agreement to spot-purchase these assessments and recommended a framework for procurement of specialist assessments be established.

The Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) was introduced as an amendment to the Mental Capacity Act in April 2009, which aimed to prevent decision making which deprived people of their liberty unless properly authorised. The safeguards covered people, regardless of the funding source, in registered care or nursing homes and in hospitals who had a mental disorder and who lacked the capacity to consent to the care provided, where that care might include the need to deprive them of their liberty. It did not apply to people detained under the Mental Health Act 1983. Hospitals and care homes were the 'managing authorities' and under the Act were responsible for identifying when a deprivation of liberty was occurring within their own service provision and for making referrals to the designated 'supervisory body', which was the Local Authority for both health and social care.

Between 1<sup>st</sup> April 2015 to 31<sup>st</sup> March 2016, 1,280 Deprivation of Liberty Safeguard applications were received by the Local Authority and of those that had resulted in an assessment, 991 had been granted, 73 had not been granted and 8 had been withdrawn. Whilst the current service, delivered by a small central team, was operating well and was compliant with financial and HMRC regulations, the market provision for Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards was changing and the number of assessments required was clearer which

made it an optimum time to consider other delivery models. Three models had been explored as part of the review and it was proposed to progress Option Two which would enable efficiencies to be made on the current arrangements by setting up a Framework to call-off Best Interest Assessors and Section 12 Doctors, with options for annual review and adjustments depending on the requirements of the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards service.

## **RESOLVED** that the Council's Executive be recommended to:

- 1) Agree that the future model for the service should be Option 2 which was to employ external Best Interest Assessors and Section 12 Doctors via 'Lots' on a Framework established for four years; and,
- 2) Delegate authority to the Assistant Director: Adult Social Care (ECHS) in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Care Services to make any subsequent appointments of suitably qualified providers to the framework if there were insufficient providers on the framework following the annual review.
  - K) GATEWAY REVIEW PROCUREMENT FOR A SEXUAL HEALTH EARLY INTERVENTION SERVICE

## Report CS17018

The Portfolio Holder presented a report outlining a gateway review undertaken of a range of community contraceptive and sexual health services which were currently delivered via a joint block contract with the Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group which would end on 30<sup>th</sup> September 2017, and seeking approval to re-procure a Sexual Health Early Intervention Service to commence on 1<sup>st</sup> October 2017.

The Local Authority had a statutory obligation to commission comprehensive, open access and free sexual health services, including Sexually Transmitted Infection (STI) testing and treatment, partner notification and contraception provision. To meet these obligations, the Local Authority commissioned a range of sexual health services from different providers in different settings. The block contract the Local Authority had with Bromley Healthcare for Contraception and Community Sexual Health Service would end on 30<sup>th</sup> September 2017 after which services would have to be re-tendered in accordance with the Local Authority's contract procedure rules.

In considering proposed future commissioning arrangements for these services, two options had been explored and it was recommended that Option 2 be progressed as this would restructure existing services and build in extra capacity within the existing budget, as well as allow a level of integration which would support a wider and more sustainable prevention programme to empower individuals to take responsibility of their own health and wellbeing. It would also enable the Local Authority to meet its statutory obligations.

Under this option, the local school-based Sex and Relationships Education programme which was not a statutory function would be decommissioned allowing schools to develop their own more 'issue specific' programmes as part of the Personal, Health and Social Education curriculums and realising a potential saving of £60k per annum.

In response to a question from the Chairman, the Assistant Director: Public Health confirmed that the online STI testing service was restricted to people aged over 25 years who were identified at being in an 'at risk' group and that eligibility was assessed via a questionnaire to ensure the kits were provided to those who were most in need. The programme was subject to stringent information governance criteria to protect client confidentiality and regular tests were undertaken to ensure security remained robust.

A Co-opted Member was concerned at the abortion rate in the Borough. The Assistant Director: Public Health advised that work to promote the use of Long Acting Reversible Contraception was ongoing, and that options for contraception were discussed with women following abortion.

#### RESOLVED that the Council's Executive be recommended to:

- 1) Approve Option 2 as the commissioning approach for a Sexual Health Early Intervention Service;
- 2) Consider the investment from the existing budget of £30k per annum for the online Sexually Transmitted Infection (STI) testing service; and,
- 3) Note the recurring saving of £60k from decommissioning the Sex and Relationships Education (SRE) programme and that the saving would contribute towards the reduction of grant.
  - L) COMMISSIONING STRATEGY HEALTH VISITING AND FAMILY NURSE PARTNERSHIP

### Report CS17019

The Care Services Portfolio Holder introduced a report outlining proposed commissioning arrangements for the Health Visiting Service and the Family Nurse Partnership from 1<sup>st</sup> October 2017. The report also set out work being undertaken by Officers to explore options around integrating these services with the Early Intervention and Family Support service and requesting that this work be continued as a priority to ensure that services were run as efficiently and effectively as possible.

The Health Visiting Service was a universal service from pregnancy to five years which undertook five mandated reviews, referred families to additional support where appropriate, and had a key safeguarding role which included providing long term support to vulnerable families. The responsibility for commissioning the Health Visiting service, which had an annual budget of

£3,454k, had been transferred to the Local Authority in October 2015, and was delivered by Bromley Healthcare via a joint block contract with the Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group which would end on 30<sup>th</sup> September 2017.

The Family Nurse Partnership was a small team of four family nurses and a full-time coordinator that provided intensive support to up to 50 vulnerable young mothers in each of Bromley and Bexley, and had demonstrated a number of beneficial outcomes, including in the performance of Public Health Outcome Indicators on the rate of under 18 years conceptions, with the proportion of teenage mothers in Bromley significantly lower than the England average. This service, which had an annual budget of £180k, was a nonmandated service and was currently delivered by Bromley Healthcare through a joint block contract with the London Borough of Bexley which would end on  $31^{st}$  March 2017.

In considering proposed future commissioning arrangements for these services, two options had been explored and it was recommended that Option 1 be progressed which proposed to tender for reconfigured Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership services as a single contract which would focus on the mandated parts of the service and identify savings by delivering the service in a more efficient way, and that Officers continue to consider how an integrated service would best work to realise maximum efficiencies in the longer term.

#### **RESOLVED** that the Council's Executive be recommended to:

- 1) Agree the extension of the contract with Bromley Healthcare for the provision of the Family Nurse Partnership service for a period of six months from 1<sup>st</sup> April 2017 to 30<sup>th</sup> September 2017 at an estimated cost of £90k in order to align with the Health Visiting Service;
- 2) Agree the Local Authority tenders the Health Visiting and Family Nurse Partnership services as a single contract for a period of three years from 1<sup>st</sup> October 2017 to 30<sup>th</sup> September 2020 at an estimated cost of £10,902k; and,
- 3) Note the work being undertaken by Officers to identify future opportunities around integrating these services with the Early Intervention and Family Support service and agree that this work be continued as a priority to ensure that services are run as efficiently and effectively as possible.

# M) PROCUREMENT STRATEGY - NATIONAL CHILD MEASUREMENT PROGRAMME

### Report CS17021

The Care Services Portfolio Holder introduced a report outlining the proposed procurement strategy for the National Child Measurement Programme, which was currently delivered via a joint block contract with the Bromley Clinical

Commissioning Group which would end on 30<sup>th</sup> September 2017, and seeking approval to procure a new contract to start on 1<sup>st</sup> October 2017 with an estimated contract value of £120k per annum.

The National Child Measurement Programme was a mandated programme measuring height and weight in Reception year and Year 6 in all children in Bromley in maintained schools and academies. The aim was to measure at least 85% of children in maintained schools and academies, with 91% of children measured in Bromley in 2015.

In considering the proposed future procurement strategy for the National Child Measurement Programme, three options had been explored and it was recommended that Option 3 be progressed which proposed to procure the National Child Measurement Programme as a standalone service. As there were no other commissioned Public Health services in schools from April 2017, there were also no obvious services to jointly tender the National Child Measurement Programme with.

#### RESOLVED that the Portfolio Holder be recommended to:

- 1) Agree to procure the contract for the National Child Measurement Programme starting 1<sup>st</sup> October 2017; and,
- 2) Agree Option 3 which proposed to procure the National Child Measurement Programme as a standalone service as the best option for procurement.

#### 12 POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND OTHER ITEMS

# A) SOCIAL CARE INNOVATIONS GRANT UPDATE ON OUTCOMES

### Report CS17008

The Committee considered a report providing an update on outcomes from a time-limited project funded through the Social Care Innovations Grant which had been designed to develop a programme of innovation in connection with assessments for short breaks which would be linked to Education, Health and Care Plans for children and young people with disabilities, and reporting on further work being undertaken with a view to testing identified outcomes prior to implementation in September 2016. The initial funding period for the project ceased in March 2016.

The Social Care Innovation Fund (SCIF) was a national programme funded by the Department for Education and led by the Council for Disabled Children. The Local Authority had been successful in securing funding of £100k to develop and test innovative solutions to the assessment procedure and the processes by which families received social care services from the statutory sector, with the aim of engaging parents, carers, young people and professionals to develop a seamless and innovative process which delivered

improved outcomes for all involved whilst offering value for money. The project was designed to explore a new approach to proportionate assessment for children and young people as they entered the statutory system and to understand the opportunities for streamlining links to other existing assessment processes, particularly Education, Health and Care plans, to direct resources to support those children and families in most need.

The project had been undertaken in three initial phases which had been completed in March 2016. Outcomes from the project had so far included the development of an online assessment tool for parents and carers to request low level short breaks, an increase in contracts managed by self-assessment, and a range of other identified service improvements which would require further testing and consideration around how to embed. The final phase of the project was to review the outcomes from this process and refine and build a pilot programme, for which further funding of £25k had been identified. As part of this, Bromley's Local Offer would need to be updated to ensure that relevant services within the community were recorded, and a separate piece of work was underway to identify short break provision in neighbouring boroughs to enable alternate signposting opportunities.

The Interim Director of Children's Services confirmed that an update on the pilot programme would be provided to a future meeting of the committee, and that mapping information on short break provision in neighbouring boroughs would be provided to Members following the meeting.

## RESOLVED that the update be noted.

# B) BROMLEY COMMUNITY WELLBEING SERVICE FOR CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE - ANNUAL REVIEW

#### Report CS17014

The Committee considered a report outlining the performance of the Bromley Community Wellbeing Service for children and young people in the first year of the three year contract period which was awarded to Bromley Y for a period of three years from 1<sup>st</sup> December 2014 to 30<sup>th</sup> November 2017, and how performance data was being used to identify and address potential gaps in the system.

The Bromley Community Wellbeing Service had been developed in consultation with all stakeholders to ensure that the emotional and mental wellbeing needs of children and young people aged up to 18 years, and up to 25 years for young people subject to an Education, Care and Health Plan, were met at the earliest opportunity, with information on the service available via a wide range of stakeholders including GPs and schools who were able to make referrals to the service.

Between 1<sup>st</sup> December 2014, and 31<sup>st</sup> March 2016 there had been 3,416 referrals to the service, 28% of which were within the highest range as measured by the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire. Those accepted for treatment were being offered short term interventions, and good outcomes were being realised with 79% of young people reducing their difficulties score

on the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire following treatment. Positive outcomes from the service included young people returning to full-time education, reductions in self-harming behaviours and improved family relationships. Concerns had been identified regarding delays in referrals to CAMHs and the Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group was working to address this issue. Other gaps in the service had also been identified and additional provision had been put in place for the diagnosis of individuals with Autistic Spectrum Disorder and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder, and specialist support in schools.

In response to a question from a Member, the Commissioning Manager (ECHS) confirmed that the Bromley Community Wellbeing service was advertised by a number of key partners including GPs, the Youth Offending Service and schools, but that the service also had a website and young people or their parents and carers could self-refer. The Chairman was pleased to note the introduction of a specialist eating disorder service which was delivered by the South London and Maudsley NHS Trust, an international leader in this area which was also working in three Bromley schools where pupils were identified as being most at risk of eating disorders.

The Portfolio Holder for Care Services advised Members that the Local Authority would continue to work with the Bromley Clinical Commissioning Group to increase capacity for the Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service, and the planned introduction of Tier 2.5 would ensure children and young people with a medium level of need were referred to appropriate specialist support in a timely manner.

### RESOLVED that the report be noted.

# 13 QUESTIONS ON THE CARE SERVICES PDS INFORMATION BRIEFING

The Care Services PDS Information Briefing comprised three reports:

- Care Services Portfolio Plan Priorities Update
- Virtual School Annual Report 2015/16
- Contract Activity 2016

**RESOLVED** that the Information Briefing be noted.

14 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 AND THE FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ACT 2000

RESOLVED that the Press and public be excluded during consideration of the items of business listed below as it was likely in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that if members of the Press and public were present there would be disclosure to them of exempt information.

# 15 EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE CARE SERVICES PDS COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON 10TH MARCH 2016

RESOLVED that the exempt minutes of the Care Services PDS Committee meeting held on 10<sup>th</sup> March 2016 be agreed.

- 16 PRE-DECISION SCRUTINY OF EXEMPT (PART 2) REPORTS
  TO THE CARE SERVICES PORTFOLIO AND THE COUNCIL'S
  EXECUTIVE
  - A) AUTHORISATION FOR EXEMPTION TO CONTINUE THE CONTRACT FOR SUPPORT SERVICES TO CHILDREN AT RISK OF SEXUAL EXPLOITATION EXEMPT (PART 2) INFORMATION

The Committee noted the Part 2 (Exempt) information relating to the report on Authorisation for Exemption to Continue the Contract for Support Services to Children at Risk of Sexual Exploitation.

B) FORMAL CONSULTATION ON OUTLINE SERVICE PROPOSALS AND PROCUREMENT STRATEGY - NURSING CARE BEDS

The Committee considered the report and supported the recommendations.

C) FORMAL CONSULTATION ON OUTLINE SERVICE PROPOSALS AND PROCUREMENT STRATEGY - DOMICILIARY CARE SERVICES

The Committee considered the report and supported the recommendations.

The Chairman requested that it be noted in the Part 1 (Public) minutes that the Local Authority commissioned 30, 45 and 60 minute Domiciliary Care visits, and that 15 minute visits were not commissioned for any reason. Service users with personal budgets could choose to fund 15 minute visits if it met their individual care needs.

The Meeting ended at 9.38 pm

Chairman





## CARE SERVICES PDS COMMITTEE 28<sup>th</sup> June 2016

# WRITTEN QUESTIONS TO THE CHAIRMAN, CARE SERVICES PDS COMMITTEE

# Written Questions to the Chairman, Care Services PDS Committee received from Mr Bob Thatcher

 Manorfields Boiler Costs – The breakdown provided in the response to the question on 10<sup>th</sup> March 2016 suggests that the cost of boilers and the Control box, compared to the market prices, are wildly excessive.

Has the Care Services PDS Committee:

- a) Challenged these costs or are they planning to do; and,
- b) Would the existing process allow a contractor to 'rig' the pricing?

## Reply:

- a) The tendering process was carried out by a company appointed by Orchard and Shipman. There were three quotes for the replacement of the boiler and the lowest was accepted and the winning bid was some £29k below the budgeted sum of £95K.
  - Internal Audit are still in the process of reviewing all available documentation in order to establish that value for money was achieved.
- b) Full assurance cannot be given that the process would not allow the price to be 'rigged'. The role of tendering for the work and overseeing that it was carried out to the specification requested by Orchard and Shipman and their appointed contractors. Bromley had no direct control over how companies were selected for different elements of the works, though it is apparent that three companies were asked to tender for the boiler replacement works. The three companies appear to be independent of one another and the cheapest tender was awarded the work. It is also noted that the company awarded the tender is included on the Council's list of approved providers.
- 2. Manorfields Front Wall Will the Care Services PDS Committee agree to build up the front wall by bricks or preferably a waist height wooden fence to:
  - a) Stop the problem of lights shining in houses opposite in Avalon Road; and,
  - b) Deter hostel residents from sitting on the front wall?

#### Reply:

Manorfields is a multi-unit temporary accommodation.

It has been agreed that alterations will be made to increase the height of the wall; options are being considered such as using secure planters and plants/flowers. The Council is keen to ensure that any proposed solution is in keeping aesthetically with the local area.

#### WRITTEN QUESTIONS TO THE CARE SERVICES PORTFOLIO HOLDER

# Written Question to the Care Services Portfolio Holder received from Mr Bob Thatcher

 Manorfields littering – the local residents thank the management team for responding to their complaints when littering has occurred but can the hostel management be more pro-active in preventing this? The fence mentioned in the point above would help mitigate some of this but the bus stop has also become a litter area.

## Reply:

Manorfields is a multi-unit temporary accommodation.

Orchard and Shipman have confirmed:

The accommodation rules are displayed on notice boards throughout the building and provided to all residents at the start of their tenancy. Orchard and Shipman have advised that residents are reminded of the importance of disposing of litter appropriately; this is detailed within the newsletters distributed to residents and is verbally reiterated as required.

The maintenance supervisor completes daily checks of the accommodation and area immediately surrounding it in order to remove any litter.

It must be highlighted that without supporting evidence, litter found on the public highway or bus stop cannot automatically be attributed to Manorfields residents.

If a complaint is received Orchard and Shipman will investigate this to the best of their ability and act accordingly in the form of conversation with the particular tenant in question where known, followed by warning letters should it require escalation. We welcome notification of any incidents as they occur in order to ensure that they can be tackled quickly and robustly.

## Written Questions to the Care Services Portfolio Holder received from Ms Chris Pecover

1. Generally - Papers for the March meeting refer to a significant discrepancy of accounts between Orchard and Shipman and Bromley Council.

Please confirm the current level of the discrepancy, by how much this has increased or decreased over the last 3 months and the action plan to correct this unacceptable situation.

#### Reply:

Having reviewed the Papers from PDS on the 10<sup>th</sup> of March there is no evidence to support the statement that there is a discrepancy between the two accounts.

2. Manorfields Drainage or Sewerage Problem – most mornings there is a 'sludge gulper' parked up by Leeds Close and the smell is horrendous.

Is there a problem with the drains or sewage at Manorfields and if so, what can be done about it, please?

## Reply:

Orchard and Shipman have confirmed:

There are no ongoing problems with drainage at Manorfields. As the accommodation had been largely empty for a significant period of time prior to occupation, works which lasted approximately 4 days were required to ensure the drains were cleared and able to meet the operational needs of the accommodation. Orchard and Shipman apologies for any inconvenience caused to local residents.

3. Residents of Manorfields suggest a) the environment is noisy, b) it is difficult to get to sleep c) they are often woken up by babies crying or people shouting and d) there are not enough bathrooms so they are not available when needed.

How is the management addressing these issues?

## Reply:

Orchard and Shipman have confirmed:

a-c) That they have only received 1 x formal complaint from a resident in respect of noise. This was tackled immediately with the residents involved and there have been no further complaints.

Orchard and Shipman and the out of hours security staff ensure that any inappropriate gatherings of residents are dispersed in order to minimise noise nuisance and ensure that they engage with residents to keep noise levels at an appropriate level. Any residents found to be causing a nuisance are issued with a formal warning and will be asked to leave the accommodation if their behaviour does not improve.

As a number of residents have young children it is the case that they will sometimes cry. Whilst it is possible to hear this between rooms, Orchard and Shipman dispute that this differs greatly to the degree of noise that would travel between flats/maisonettes etc. In addition to utilising their rooms residents are also able to access the communal areas within the accommodation as required.

Orchard and Shipman have not received any formal complaints regarding a lack of available bathrooms.

The Council would like to confirm:

d) The number of bathrooms within the accommodation is compliant with the requirements set out in the planning regulations for the occupancy levels within this accommodation.

# Written Questions to the Care Services Portfolio Holder received from Mr Bill Miler

1. Please confirm the current occupancy levels of Manorfields – is it now running at full capacity?

## Reply:

Yes, it is at full occupancy

2. Please confirm how many out of Borough request have been made to Bromley for accommodation at Manorfields and how many have been granted.

## Reply:

Temporary accommodation placements, for this or any location, are not allocated based upon customer request or self-referral. All placements are made via the Council's Housing Needs service. Manorfields is not available for placement requests by other local authorities. As such there have not been any out of Borough requests for Manorfields.

 Please confirm whether any incidents of anti-social behaviour at Manorfields or crime in the immediate have been reported to the management or to the police and what learnings from these have been used to improve the welfare of the residents of the hostel.

# Reply:

Orchard and Shipman confirm:

There have been no incidents that have required police intervention.

Residents are advised of the accommodation rules at the start of their residency and are notified of the repercussions of failing to adhere to these rules. Orchard and Shipman maintain close management of the site and are quick to intervene in order to prevent any potential issues from developing. This is done by way of clear verbal engagement with residents and is followed up formally in writing as required.

## CARE SERVICES PDS COMMITTEE 28<sup>th</sup> June 2016

### STATEMENT BY THE PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR CARE SERVICES

In a three week period from April 11<sup>th</sup> our Children Services (not Education) were inspected by OFSTED under their new inspection regime. The report was published yesterday.

In all areas of reporting (1) Children who need help and protection (2) Children Looked After and achieving permanence – including sub sections (a) Adoption Performance & (b) Experiences and progress of care leavers and (3) Leadership, management & governance. We were judged as 'Inadequate' which is the bottom category of four.

The result was obviously very disappointing and really quite surprising – and there were some points that we felt were unfair. However we could see no future in quibbling – in my experience of schools you certainly never manage to get judgements changed – so we have taken it on the chin, accepted the judgements and resolved to put things right.

We have already been working on a detailed action/response plan to look at what needs to be done to improve all aspects of the service. Resources will be needed but money is not the only answer and it is clear that a culture change is also required. Two of the Report's recommendations on staffing – Appointment of a Director of Children's Services and appointment of additional Social workers to bring down individual caseloads - with the Leader's permission we have already put in train.

An added complication is that 'Inadequate' across the board triggers a reaction from the Department for Education. The Minister has issued a 'Statutory Direction' and has appointed a Children's Services Commissioner to make recommendations to us, review our capacity to improve and by October 1<sup>st</sup> made a recommendation to the Minister as to whether we have in Bromley the capacity to produce a satisfactory service for our young people or whether the Service should be handed over to an external Trust.

The appointed Commissioner is Ms Frankie Sulke CBE who was until fairly recently Director of Children Services in Lewisham. Obviously she will be around a great deal working with us all and officers will be sparing no efforts to produce a vast improvement – not least in framing our responses/actions to the 18 recommendations in the Ofsted report.

The Leader has set up a 'Service Improvement Governance Board' to be the main driver of change – comprising elected members, senior officers and representatives from some of our partner organisations such as Police and Health.

We issued a press release yesterday emphasising our determination to get things right. I will report progress regularly to Care Services PDS Committee.

We have three months to redress the situation so that we can retain control of this service but more importantly to provide a better service to the young people in the borough.

Perhaps we are all at fault in some way – Lead Members and senior officers, Members of scrutiny, frontline social workers and all others involved. We must all resolve to improve.